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DECISION AND ORDER

Respondent Eric W. Hereth has appealed from the written initial decision of
Administrgtive Law J udge Robert L. Barton,;~J r.,' holding that Mr Hereth violated
~ the Federai Aviation Regulations and asseséi_ng a $3,000 civil penalty.” Because a
prépoﬁdérance of reliable,‘:probative, and substantial evidence supports the law
, .judge’S-decisioﬁ,' itis afﬁrmed | | ..

’ Mr.‘Heret}'l; holder’ of .a'l{.‘i‘)riv'ate pilot certiﬁqatg,‘; rented a Plper Cherokee
Model PA—;28—18O airplane from.a flying clubvto ﬂyhla famiiv from Gille»;pie, :
- Califernia to M'ai'i}‘)d.sa.,;_ Qé'li_fornia,-for abwedding. On the return trip, juét after

‘midnight oni J uly’ 14, 1991, the airplane r4n out of fuelif nine or ten miles short of its

' A copy of the law judge’s décision is attached.

2 Earlier in the proceedings, the law judge dismissed this case on the ground that the
complaint was late-filed, and both parties appealed. On appeal, I reversed the law judge’s
dismissal and remanded the case to him for a decision on the merits. In the Matter of Eric
W. Hereth, FAA Order 94-7 (March 10, 1994).

3 Mr. Hereth testified that he has logged over 500 hours of flying time in civil aircraft since
the time he was a student pilot. (Tr. 168-69.) In the particular model of aircraft he was
flying when the plane crashed, the Piper Cherokee PA-28-180, he had logged only about 7 or
8 hours prior to the incident. (Tr. 170.)

* Because the alleged violations occurred before August 25, 1992. this case involving a pilot is
before the FAA Administrator rather than the National Transportation Safety Board. See 49




destination (Tr. 136) and crashed into an unoccupied home in Ramona, California.

The aircraft struck a liquid propane tank, severing the tank’s supply line.’
Mr. Hereth and one of the passengers suffered minor injuries, but the other
passengers were not injured. (Tr. 17.) The airplane was destroyed. (Pre-Hearing
Conference of December 2, 1992, at 7.)
The FAA inspectors who examined the aircraft and crash scene found no
evidence of fuel leakage or mechanical abnormalities. FAA Inspector John White, a
supervisory aviation safety inspector, testified that he was the first FAA inspector
on the scene. (Tr. 15.) He met with Mr. Hereth, who said that the airplane had run
~out oﬁi};el. (Tr. 17.) When Inspectdr Mite examined th_c_a..a;irplane, he noted no
st.r'ox‘lg aroma of :fuel around fhe area to_iﬁdicate that tﬁer_e had been any fuel
. spillagg;' and found no fuel in either éf Athe fuel tanks. (Tr. 17—18.).
Aviativoh fuél’cbntaihs dyeé that will'leave a stain ,o-fr‘esid,ue on the'.s-kin of
.the .éitl-c-raft.; (T1 34. ) The prim;u_‘y purpos;é of the dye isv octané—liev‘.e.l Iide.xlltiﬁ::cat-ivo11_‘
(Id.) Eighty—octane fuel contains red dye, 100—octa11e fuel contains green dye; aﬁd
100-octane low-lead fuel contains blue dye. (d:) ‘How_.eve.r, the dye at_l_éb_ aids in
ldentlfymg leaks; as 'thé fuelﬂ’e.va.porates,.txl;é d;e rem;iﬁ'sbn the aifé;éft su-rfai.c"e.
(Id.) Ins.pector Mite testified that although investigating at night Vs;ith liﬁiﬁed

lighting was difficult (Tr. 17), he saw no ev_i_de_:nce of a fuel leak, éither on the

U.S.C. § 46301(d)9), stating that “[t]his subsection {providing for NTSB jurisdiction over
cases involving pilots, flight engineers, mechanics, or repairers] applies only to a violation
occurring after August 25, 1992.” '

® Pre-Hearing Conference of December 2,1992, at 6; Tr. 29.

At the hearing, Mr. Hereth claimed that it was not the aircraft that sheared off the
propane tank, but flying debris. (Tr. 162.) It makes little difference. In either event, the
crash of the plane Mr. Hereth was operating severed the propane tank’s supply line.




airplane itself or on the ground. (Tr. 18.) When he returned the next day, Inspector
White was able to observe the crash scene in daylight. (Tr. 19.) He again noted
that there were no signs of any fuel leakage. (Id.) He saw no stains coming out of
the fuel cap or the belly of the airplane. (Id.)

FAA Inspector Jeffrey Edwards, an air carrier inspector who was serving as
standby accident investigator (Tr. 28), arrived at the scene at 3:30 a.m., several
hours after the crash occurred. Inspector Edwards started his investigation by
attempting to determine the amount of fuel on board the aircraft. (Tr.‘32.) He »
removed the fuel caps and, using his ﬂashlight saw only a residual arhount of fuel
in the tanks. (Id.) He then exammed ‘the extenor of the aircraft for seeps or stalns
mdlcatlng fuel leakage. (Tr 33 ) He dlso took off the top panel and looked 1nto the
engme area, but saw no apparent mechamcal abnormahtles there were no fuel

_ stams and the fuel hoses ‘were, secure: (Id. ) When Inspector Edwards tried to dram :

the fuel bolt low pomt dram no fuel appeazed (Tr 30 ) Inspectm Edwalds cracked o

the fuel lines at the engme -driven fuel pump and the primer lines going from the
ﬂow divider, but was unable to- ﬁnd fuel at exther of these pomts (Tr 33 34 ) When
- _asked about the poss1b111ty of a 1eak at the fuel stramer Inspector Edwards o
| testified, “] did not see any ev1dence of a leak in the engme cell of that alrcraft
There was no evidence of tuel leakage. The lines were secured, the safety wire was
in place. At no tlme did I find any presence of a fuel leak on that aircraft.” (Tr 917. )
Inspector Edwards testified that he removed the engine cover. (Tr. 82.) The
strainer was inaccessible through the thp compartment, but Inspector Edwards was

able to get at the strainer because the cowling had been torn off on the side of the




aircraft in the crash. (Tr. 85-86.) Inspector Edwards testified that the safety wire
on the strainer was intact. (Tr. 88.)

According to Inspector Edwards, if the strainer had leaked, green fuel stains
would have been visible in the photographs admitted into evidence, but none were.
(Tr. 91, 96.) The inspector testified that there would also have been fuel stains on
the firewall and the smell of fuel in the cockpit. (Tr. 94.) Inspector Edwards noted
that if the fuel strainer were going to leak, it would do so on installation, not
7 hours into a flight. (Tr. 92.) |

Inspector Edwards testified that Mr. Hereth brought the PA-28-161 manual

to their meeting two days after the accident’ and told Inspector Edwards that it was . . .

the manual he used to plan the flight. (Tr. 36; 59 ) The fhght manual is essent1a1 to
proper ﬂlght planmng, it contams 1nformat10n concerning the aircraft’ S fuel burn |
. A1 rate and other crltlcal 1nformat10n (Tr 494) Accordmg to Inspector Edwards, whenf '
| he pomted out to ’\h Hu eth that the ﬂ1g11t manual Ml Hereth bloug,ht w1th hlm _
o was for a PA 28-161 anc1aft Mr. Hereth asked, “Well. wasn't | ﬂvmg a 16177 to
which. Inspectox Edwards rephed No you were ﬂ} ing a 180- hoxbepower enﬁlhe
‘-..(Tr 68. )6 Inspector Edwards testlﬁed that a comparlson of the fhght manuals for ‘
| »'the PA- 28 161 and the PA-28-180 alrcraft shows that the PA 28-161 has a much
lower fuel burn rate than the PA-28-180. (Tr.J58.)
About three weeks after the-crash', Mr .Hereth called Inspector Edwards.

According to the inspector’s written record of the telephone call,” Mr. Hereth stated

¢ Aircraft in the 160-series have a 160-horsepower engine, while aircraft in the 180-series
have a 180-horsepower engine. (Tr. 36.)

TCX-J-L




that fellow members of the flying club had told him that the aircraft was a
PA-28-161 aircraft.

When the investigation was complete, the FAA inspectors concluded that the
cause of the crash landing was not a fuel leak but Mr. Hereth'’s violation of several
safety regulations. The FAA issued a complaint alleging that Mr. Hereth violated

the following regulations:

1. Section 91.103," which requires pilots to become familiar with all
available information concerning a flight, including fuel
requirements, before beginning it;

9. Section 91.151(a)(2),’ which prohibits beginning a nighttime flight
under VFR" conditions unless there is enough fuel to fly to the
first point of intended laniding and,.assuming normal cruising -
speed, to fly after that for at least 45 minutes; and

3. .Se_ction'971.13(a), which prohibits operating an aircraft in a
careless or reckless manner so as to endanger the life or property

of another.”

® Section 91.103(a), 14 C.F.R. § 91.103(a) (1991), prevides, in pertinent part, as follows: . .

Each pilot in command shall, before beginning a flight, become familiar with
all available information concerning that flight. This ipformation must
include-- ) - ‘ o

e (a) For a flight under IFR or a flight not in the vicinity of an girport,
weather reports and forecasts; fuel requirements, alterhatives available if the
planned ﬂight cannot be completed, and any known traffic delays of which * .
the pilot in command has been advised by ATC . .. ' ‘

f(Emphasis added.)
® Section 91.151(a), 14 CFR § 91.151(a) (1991), provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

No person may begin a flight in an airplane under VFR [Visual Flight Rules]

conditions unless (considering wind and forecast weather conditions) there is
enough fuel to fly to the first point of intended landing and, assuming normal
cruising speed-- . . . ' : ' '

(2) At night, to fly after that for.at least 45 minutes.

" Visual Flight Rules.

' Gection 91.13, 14 C.F.R. § 91.13(a) (1991}, provideé as follows: “No person may operate an
aircraft in a careless or reckless manner so as to endanger the life or property of another.”




At the pre-hearing conference” and at the hearing, Mr. Hereth disputed that

he believed he was flying a PA-28-161 aircraft. Mr. Hereth argued that although he
mistakenly brought the wrong manual to his initial meeting with Inspector
Edwards, he used the correct manual when planning the ill-fated flight.
(Pre-Hearing Conference at 21-22; Tr. 133-134; 172.) Mr. Hereth claimed he knew
he was flying a “180-horsepower equipped Cherokee.” (Tr. 171). He contended that
he used the manual for the PA-28-181, although he was flying a PA-28-180, and
that the PA-28-181 aircraft was essentially the same as the PA-28-180.
After a hearing, the law judge issued a written decision holding that
‘Mr. Hereth. yiolated the three reguiatiorié alleged ii}_tbe complaint, and Mr. Hereth
appealed. 7 Mr. Hereth asserts on appeal, as he did belg;w, that he had enougﬁ fuei N
.an.d that a suddqn, rapid .1eak 1n the fuei system at.the f;lgI' jsﬁréiqer vr'nust h-aw-/e
: ‘ca’ué'e'd:'the}:ﬁ_iél :e.x‘h-éu's_tvio_-n'. .".'(A_{-_;;\p‘eal Brilef_ at '-29.5-_ .;ﬁ_.iés’séﬁcé,,_Mrﬁ Hefétt}l’s'_ o
- algument .o.-n Aavp-p_éal is that 4 prepondmance of 'réli;;at;ie, plobatl\e and;s;gst.%;;niaij

~ evidence does not support the law judge’s findings of fact.”

¥ December 2, 1992.

3 Mr. Hereth filed an unauthorized reply to Complainant’s Reply Brief. The Rules of Practice ..
provide only for the filing of an appeal brief and a replybrief. 14 C.F.R. § 13.233(d) and (e). -
A party may not file an additional brief without the Administrator’s express permission. The -
rules state that the Administrator will not grant such permission unless the party shows

good cause for allowing additional argument. 14 C.FR. §13.233(f). Mr. Hereth has not

shown good cause for allowing his additional brief. As a result, his unauthorized brief has

not been considered in deciding this appeal.

 See 14 C.F.R. § 13.233(b), which provides that a party may appeal only the following issues:
(1) whether each finding of fact is supported by a preponderance of reliable, probative, and
substantial evidence; (2) whether-each conclusion of law 1s made in accordance with
applicable law, precedent, and public policy; and (3) whether the law judge committed any
prejudicial errors during the hearing that support the appeal.




Extra-Record Material

Many of the arguments and claims in Mr. Hereth’s appeal brief have no
foundation in the record.” For example, Mr. Hereth claims that “Since Piper 7803N
went down in July of 1991, coastal fliers [sic] (the owner of Piper 7803N) has had
two other aircraft fall out of the sky with mysterious unexplained fuel problems.”
(Appeal Brief at 13.) There is no evidence in the record to support this claim.

In addition, Mr. Hereth cites throughout his appeal brief to exhibits attached
to a document captioned “Notice of Lodgment.” Mr. Hereth submitted his “Notice of
Lodgment” to the docket after the law judge issued his initial decision. Although
th;: law judge? provided Mr. He,re_th ample ogxbortun'-ityA during th:e hearing to
: introduce evidence,'® Mr. Hereth failed to introducéi the “N_o’,_tiée ofi;odgmerit” .or the

: éftvéched‘exhibits_,_ Some of thé exhibits: at'taché(:i-"to the Nb.fi'c'e of Lodgment

S 'dulﬁlicaté exhibits introduced into évidence by-C(_)mp'lain.a_nt;’7 however, cheré have

, m.Complainant argues that the Administrator should-not consider Mr. Hereth’s appeal brief
.. because it fails.to contdin specific references to the record, Te support this argument, the

"~ FAA cites 14 C.FR. § 13.233(1), which provides that: ' : Co .
[t}he FAA decisionmaker is not required to consider any objection In an
appeal brief or any argument in the feply brief if a party’s objection is based
on evidence contained in the record and the party does not specifically refer
to the pertinent evidence from the record in the brief. '

The more serious problem, however, is not that Mr. Hereth failed to provide specific
citations to evidence in the record. Rather, it is that the evidence on which Mr. Hereth bases
many of the arguments in his appeal brief is not in the record at all.

® Tr. 138, 150, 152, 157, 160-162.

" For example, Exhibit A-3 and Exhibit D attached to Mr. Hereth’s “Notice of Lodgment”
(“Range v. Density Altitude Chart” and “True Airspeed and RPM v. Density Altitude Chart,”
both for the PA-28-180) are the same as FAA Exhibit CX-H-1. Likewise, Exhibit C-1
attached to the Notice of Lodgment (“Engine Performance Chart” for the PA-28-161) is the
same as FAA Exhibit CX-I-1.




no independent basis in the record. Mr. Hereth has not shown why he could not
present these documents at the hearing.

The Rules of Practice, like other rules of procedure, prohibit basing a
decision on material outside the record.” Exhibits are not part of the record unless
the law judge has received them into evidence. 9 Because the law judge never
admitted into evidence the exhibits attached to Mr. Hereth’s Notice of Lodgment,
neither they nor any other extra-record material have formed the basis for this
decision.” Nevertheless, the record has been examined carefully to ensure that a
preponderance of reliable, probative, and substantial evidence supports the law

judge’s decision. .

.- .Section 9171_03@ W _' :'

3 Sect;ié_ri 91.103(a) prohibits pilots 5 command from beginning a flight

- »i..with.ou.t‘ ﬁrst bééomiﬁg familiar with all available ix‘}fql~n’1atiop COnée}'nihg "tha_ti :
ﬂi.ghtv, incl!gding fu)e.l req‘u.iliementts.. "I:‘h;z léwjudgé found L'hat."M_r. He1ethusedthe . )
wrong ﬂight mz“m‘ual to plan his flight (Inifial Decision at 9) and C(‘)nclulde'dthz;t |

Mr: Hereth violated Section 91.103(a). (Initial Decision at 14.)

® Qoction 13.223, 14 C.F.R. § 13.223, provides that “the administrative law judge shall issue
an initial decision or shall rule in a party’s favor only if the decision or ruling is supported by,
and in accordance with, the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence contained in the '
record:” (Emphasis added.)

1 Gection 13.230(a) of the Rules of Practice, 14 C.F.R. § 13.230(a), which is entitled “Exclusive
record,” provides that “the transcript of all testimony in the hearing, all exhibits recetved into
evidence, and all motions, applications, requests, and rulings shall constitute the exclusive
record for decision of the proceedings and the basis for issuance of any orders in the
proceeding.” (Emphasis added.)

® Y sofar as the exhibits attached to the Notice of Lodgment duplicate some of the exhibits
received into evidence at the hearing, they have been considered.




The law judge found that Mr. Hereth used the PA-28-161 manual to plan his
flight, although he was flying a PA-28-180 airplane. (Initial Decision at 8-9.) The
law judge stated:

[Oln two occasions within a month after the accident, Respondent

clearly indicated that he had used the 160-series manual in his flight

planning. It was nearly 1% years later, at the December 2, 1992,

prehearing conference, that Respondent maintained that he had

simply grabbed the wrong flight manual when leaving for the July 16,

1991, meeting with the FAA Inspectors.

The law judge found Mr. Hereth’s assertions soon after the accident to be more
reliable than his testimony at the hearing. (Initial Decision at9.)

In h1s appeal brlef Mr. Hereth contests the law Judge s finding regardmg
wh1ch ﬂlght manual he used. (Appeal Br1ef at 2.) Accordlng to Mr. Hereth, he
51mp1y plcked up the wrong manual on the day of hlS meetlng w1th
Inspector Edwards He clanns he used the manual for the PA 28- 181 rather than '
. ) the PA 28 161 manual to plan hlS ﬂ1ght

The law judge based hlS ﬁndmg of a v101at10n of Sectioh 91.103(&0 on a
credibility determination. The law Judge stated that Mr. Hereth’s testlmony
T regardmg the manuakFwas not cred1b1e The Admlmstrator accords speclal

‘ deference to a law Judge s credlblhty determmatlons because the law ]udge is in the T

best position to evaluate the demeanor of the w1tnes~es In the Matter of J ames

Park, FAA Order No. 92-3 at 8 Jd anuary 9, ‘1992). ‘Mr. Hereth has offered no

convincing reason to disturb the law judge’s credibility detenmnatlon
Assuming, however, for the sake of argument, that Mr. Hereth used the
PA-28-181 manual to plan his flight as he claims, he still used the wrong manual.

(Tr. 133-134; 172.) Regarding why he used a PA-28-181 manual when he was flying

a PA-28-180, Mr. Hereth said that the flying club told him that he could use the
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same manual for either airplane. (Tr. 133.) He admitted, though, that as pilot-in-
command, the ultimate responsibility for the flight was his. (Tr. 179.)

Mr. Hereth claimed that the PA-28-180 and PA-28-181 models are virtually
identical except for differences in paint, upholstery, and trim. He further claimed
that the PA-28-181 manual was better because it was “far more complete and
thorough” than the PA-28-180 manual. (Tr. 133-134.) On cross-examination,
however, Mr. Hereth conceded that the PA-28-181 manual did not list the serial
number of the particular airplane he was flying” as one of the serial numbers to
which the PA-28:181 manual applied. (Tr. 177.) Mr. Hereth also conceded thalt a
.' compansor\ of the manuals showed that the two models of alrcraﬁ; d1ffered in more
than just their palnt upholstery, and trim. For example Mr. Hereth admltted that
one model was capable of carrymg more Welght t,han the other. (Tr 177.)

Complamant § Cross- exammatlon of Mr. Hereth revealed that the ﬁgures in
| the charts contammg fuel burn rates in the PA 28 180 and PA- 26 181 manuals are
dlffelent ('11 178.) In fact as the followmg chart 1llust1 ates the fuel burn rates of

both the PA 28-161 and the PA 28 181 are lower than that of the PA 28-180:

% Serial humber 28-5253. (CX-H-8.)
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FUEL BURN RATES, IN GALLONS PER HOUR (GPH)
(Best Economy, or Leanest Mixture)

PA-28-1617 PA-28-181*° PA-28-180"

55% power 6.6 GPH 6.3 GPH 7.2 GPH
65% power 7.5 GPH 7.6 GPH 8.7 GPH
75% power 8.5 GPH 8.8 GPH 10 GPH

Thus, even if Mr. Hereth’s claim that he used the PA-28-181 manual to plan his

flight is correct, his appeal of the Section 91.103(a) violation would still fail. He still

used the wrong manual, and one that contained fuel burn rates lower than those for

the aircraft he was operating. A preponderance of the reliable, probative, and

substantlal ev1dence supports the law Judge s holdmg that Mr. Hereth violated
Section 91.103(a).

_ Sectlon 91. 151(3)(2)

Complamant aIso alieged that Mr Hereth vmlated Secmon 91 151(a)(2), .
:Wthh xequlred Mr Hereth to ensure that he had enoudh fuel to ﬂy for 45 nnnutee " R
afte1 his ﬁrst pomt of intended landlncr The law ]udoe found that Mr. HereLh o
madequately fueled the plane and held that Mr. Hereth v101ated |

‘ Sectlon 91 151(a)(2) Accordmg to the law Judge Mr Hereth clalm that a fuel .

% CX-1-1.

® Notice of Lodgment Exhlblt C-2. Although the Notice of Lodgment and the attached
exhibits are not part of the record (see the discussion beginning on page 7 above concerning
extra-record material), the fuel burn rates contained in Exhibit C-2 are included to show that
even if Mr. Hereth’s extra-record exhibits were in evidence and the law judge had accepted
Mr. Hereth’s claim that he used the PA-28-181 manual, it would not alter the outcome of this
case.

* CX-H-1.
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strainer popped loose in flight, causing the fuel exhaustion, was “simply speculation
for which there was no adequate support in the record.” (Initial Decision at 15.)

On appeal, Mr. Hereth claims that the facts do not support the law judge’s
decision. Mr. Hereth testified that he believed that it was not physically possible
for the FAA inspectors to have checked the fuel strainer given the positioning of the
aircraft at the crash scene. (Tr. 207.)

In addition, Mr. Hereth argues that the FAA inspector “rushed to judgment.”
Mr. Heret}hvtestiﬁed ‘t';hat Inspector Reynolds telephoned him several days after the
crash to tell him that he had released the aircraft so that a salvage crew could

‘.remove 1t from the crash scene. D'uring this teiéphone convefsatidn,.'aécording to’
Mr. Hereth Inspector Reynolds indicated that he beheved that Mr. Hereth had

flown from Marysv1lle Alrport rather than Marlposa (Tr. 208 209.) Marysvﬂle

L would have been well out of the alrcraft s range. In Mr Hereth’s oplmon, :

’ : Inspeétor Reynolds had ébtéined erroﬁéous 1A11fo1mat1on 1eadmo him to prejudge‘the
case and fail to carry out a broper 1nvest1gat10n Fmthelmole by the time the ‘
mspector got the correct mformatlon the éal\rade crew had removed the alrcraft
) ._from the crash scene. (Tr 208 ) "

| Despxte Mr Hereth’s clalmé of exror, a‘pré}')onderance of the reli;ble
probative,"and substantial evidence supports the»law' judge’s holding regarding -
Section 91.151(a)(2). By his own admission, Mr. Hereth used the Wrong flight
manual. In planning the amount of fuel he would need, he used a flight manual
that contained significantly 1owér fuel burn rates than those for the aircraft'; he was

flying.”

3 This is true even if one accepts Mr. Hereth’s claim that he used the PA-28-181 manual,
which the law judge did not credit. See the discussion above at p. 10.
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Mr. Hereth failed to provide any evidence to support his claim that a fuel
leak, rather than his errors, caused the fuel exhaustion. At the hearing, Mr. Hereth
stated that when he looked at the aircraft after workers moved it to the salvage
yard, he found a fuel strainer hanging loose. (Tr. 225.) Assuming, for the sake of
argument, the truth of this statement,” there is no assurance that the strainer did
not pop loose in transit or that someone did not disengage it after
Inspector Edwards’ investigation. Moreover, as Complainant points out, even
Mr. Hereth did not testify that he saw fuel stains or other evidence of a fuel leak on
the aircraft. (Reply Brief at 8.) Mr. Hereth speculated that the avocado trees the
‘aircraft sheared off in the crash landing could have wiped off any fuel stams on ) the
belly of the aircraft. However this does not explam why there were no fuel stalns

- on other- parts-of the ,aircraft such as the ﬁrewall and the..wmgs., Inspector Edwards :
: ‘testlﬁed that stams on the ﬁrewall and the ngs would have been present had .
| “there been a fuel leak (Tx 94 96. ) | o |
lnspector bdwards also testlﬁed that if there had been a fuel leak there
s would have been a fuel srnell in the cockp1t (Tr 94) At no, t1me d1d Mr Hereth
| -41nd1cate that he smelled fuel n the cockplt nor is there any other ev1dence m the -
record of 'a cockpit fuel smell. | | | “

Mr. Hereth brought a'fuel strainer to the_'-hearing',' '('Ilr.. 154), but it was not
frorn the aircraft at issue and had little probative valu‘e. Mr. Hereth testified that
all the flights that he flew on the same route before and after the accident required

less fuel. However, he admitted on cross-examination that his pre-crash and post-

% Technically, this statement is not in evidence. Mr. Hereth made the statement during
closing argument, after his testimony.
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crash flights were not in the same type of aircraft (Tr. 175; 201); rather, they were
in aircraft that had lower fuel burn rates than the airplane he was flying at the time
of the crash. As agency counsel pointed out on cross-examination, the pre-crash and
post-crash flights differed from the flight that crashed in other significant respects
affecting fuel consumption as well. For example, the following were different: the
number of people on board, the weight of the baggage, the weight of the fuel, and
the wind and the temperature at the time of the flights. (Tr.200-203.)

Mr. Hereth challenged Inspector Edwards’ fuel calculations, and it is true
that Inspector Edwards’ qualifications as an expert are in aircraft maintenance
rather thar; aircraﬂ{ oAperations.27 Even without the inspector’é c‘alculati:,ons,
howe.ver, stror;g circumstantial ev.i-dence suppoxlt:s the law judge’s decisiéjn.

Mbrgévgf, assux}niiﬁg, for the éake of argument, that_ Mr. Here.t;h; accurately
q:alcul_gtea‘ the g@ount _qf fuel he unld néed for his Itrip,_ it i; still u(nc‘lear‘ exgctl};

' how much fuél was in the éahi%s’ at the béginnin{g of tlie't_rip. M1 Hereth's |
testimony that the fu'él. talelké vQére full a;ﬂpears to L;e based on nothing more than an
assumption. Mr. Hereth,s:ta.ted at the hearing that “the club policy 13, al\\;ays'ﬁll

. _,thé -éi%jcraft- as—— asyou’re ;ﬁ,ni;hed w1th it,.é.:o -- t.(.)__be.c'orurt_eogs.to the nexf’,pilotjl_afngl e
start with full ‘é..aiﬁl;s"?2§ éTr. 101.) Tt WOilld beva glfavefmistak'e: fo aséﬂmé tflAa.t pi.iots

always follow ﬂying club policies about refilling fuel tanks when their'ﬂights are

2 Note that at the close of its case, Complainant did offer to make available to Mr. Hereth an
operations inspector qualified to testify as to the proper fuel calculations (Tr. 128), but
Mr. Hereth declined Complainant’s offer.

Complainant made the operations inspector available to Mr. Hereth, even though the
Rules of Practice do not require Complainant to do so. Section 13.227 of the Rules of
Practice, 14 C.F.R. § 13.227, provides that a party other than the FAA may not call an FAA
employee to testify as an expert or opinion witness.

% Technically, this statement is not in evidence, as it was made when Mr. Hereth was cross-
examining Inspector Edwards, before Mr. Hereth was sworn in.
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complete. Notably absent from Mr. Hereth’s testimony is any indication that he
ensured that the fuel tanks were full by some reliable method before he began his
trip--e.g., by “topping off” the fuel tanks. As Inspector Edwards testified, “We have
never determined, nor will we ever be able to determine, how many gallons of fuel
were actually on that aircraft on the first flight to Mariposa.” (Tr. 70, 79.) For this
reason, too, the law judge did not err in finding that Mr. Hereth failed to ensure
that he had sufficient fuel to reach his destination.

Mr. Hereth presented no testimony other than his own to support his claim
that there was a fuel leak and that his fuel calculations were correct. The hearmg
| -was an opportumty for Mr. Hereth to call quahﬁed witnesses and to, mtroduce other
.:-rehable ev1dence in SUpport of his clalms but Mr. Hereth failed to do so. Bare
.-claimS'and spe’c’ulation do not.suffice; parties who hope to prevail need to p_roy.lde -
) ev1deece to support thelr cleums

Compla;nant estabhshed a‘}n‘un-a facie v1olat1en of Section 91. 151 Q)by
intr oducmo ev 1dence to sepport a 1casonablemference that M. Her eLﬁ fa.l.led to
-ensure that he had sufﬁc1ent fuel when he begaﬁ the ﬂlght Once Complamant had
i} ‘.don.e so; it was up to Mr. Hereth tq overcome Complamants przma faae case by
producing evidence to rebut Complamant’s case. As the Nat10na1 Transportatlon
Séfety Board (NTSB) stated in a similar casevinvolv»i-ng a Acla'im by'_ the pilot thep a

fuel leak rather than fuel mismanagement caused his engine failure:

. We recognize that the FAA’s investigation into this incident may
not provide all the answers. However, in order to make out a prima
facie case, the Administrator was only required to present evidence
sufficient to support a reasonable inference that the engine failure
was due to respondent’s fuel mismanagement. In our judgment, the
Administrator presented a prima facie case of carelessness, which
respondent failed to overcome.
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Administrator v. Redfern, Order EA-3857, 1993 NTSB LEXIS 63, at *8 (April 6,

1993).% Similarly, in this case, although some unanswered questions remain,”
Complainant presented a prima facie case that Mr. Hereth failed to overcome. As a
result, the law judge did not err in holding that a preponderance of the evidence
established that Mr. Hereth violated Section 91.151(a)}(2).

Section 91.13(a)

Section 91.13(a) prohibits operating an aircraft in a careless or reckless
manner and endangering the life or property of another. 14 C.F.R.§91.13(a). As
discussed above, a preponderance of the reliable, probative, and substanﬁial-
evidence 'supports. the following'ﬁndings of ﬁhe law judge: |

1. '_.,that Mr. Hereth used the wrong ﬂight manual to;plén hi's,‘ﬂight;.v.

9. that the flight manual M. .Herethused: to plan ms ﬂightn-. |

contained lower fuel burn rates than the manual for the aircraft
he was operating; ... : . ' '
3. | {baL Mx Heleth falledtoensure hewould ilé;e sufﬁc1ent pr,}él‘;;q‘nd o

4. that the resulting plane crash caused both iﬁjury to those aboard
. the aireraft and damage to property.

® G0 also Administrator v. Tsegaye, NTSB Order EA-4205, Docket SE-13021, 1994 NTSB
LEXIS 213, *4, (June 23, 1994), review denied, Tsegaye v. NTSB, 51 F.3d 268 (4th Cir. 1995),
in which the pilot, as in the instant case, claimed that mechanical failure was the cause of
the incident. In Tsegave, the pilot-claimed that the reason he failed to establish radio
communication with air traffic control and to obtain a clearance was that his radios failed.
The NTSB held that once the FAA made out a prima facie case of a violation, the burden
then shifted to the pilot. According to the NTSB, the pilot must then show that the FAA's
evidence was unreliable or that the violation should be excused for some good reason, but the
pilot in Tsegaye had failed to do so. - o ‘

* Por example, the exact amount of fuel that Section 91.151(aX2) required Mr. Hereth to
have in the PA-28-180 when he began his flight was not established. It is also unclear
whether Mr. Hereth properly leaned the fuel mixture. Mr. Hereth testified that he leaned
the engine by sound although the proper method is by observing the REM and EGT gauges.
(Tr. 203.)
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Consequently, the law judge’s finding that Mr. Hereth violated Section 91.13 by
operating an aircraft carelessly, thereby endangering the life and property of others,
is affirmed.

The law judge assessed a $3,000 civil penalty. That amount is not too high
given the circumstances of this case, in which Mr. Hereth’s actions damaged
property and endangered his own life as well as the lives of others. The law judge’s

decision is affirmed.”

N
DAVID R. HINSON, ADMINISTRATOR
Federal Avidtion Administration’ -

Issued this 19th day of Ijecember, 1995.7. - -

% Unless Respondent files a petition for review with a Court of Appeals of the United States
within 60 days of service of this decision (under 49 U.S.C. § 46110), this decision shall be
considered an order assessing civil penalty. See 14 CF.R. § § 13.16(b)(4) and 13.233(GX2)

(1995).




